

Planning Commission Minutes Thursday, April 18, 2024 – 5:30 PM City Hall Council Chambers, 520 E. Cascade Avenue, Sisters, OR 97759

Chairman:	Jeff Seymour
Commissioners:	Art Blumenkron, Sarah McDougall, Rick Retzman, Tom Ries
Absent:	Jeremy Dickman
City Staff:	Scott Woodford, Community Development Director, Matt Martin,
	Principal Planner, Emme Shoup, Associate Planner
Recording Secretary:	Carol Jenkins, Recording Secretary

I. CALL TO ORDER / DETERMINATION OF QUORUM / ADOPTION OF AGENDA

Chairman Seymour called the public hearing to order at 5:30 pm. A quorum was established. Adoption of Agenda – April 18, 2024. *Commissioner* Retzman made a motion to approve the Agenda for April 18, 2024, as proposed. *Commissioner McDougall* seconded. Motion passes.

- II. VISITOR COMMUNICATION None
- III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES December 07, 2024, and January 04, 2024.

Commissioner McDougall made a motion to approve the minutes for December 07, 2024, and January 04, 2024, as presented. *Commissioner Retzman* seconded the motion. Motion passes.

IV. PUBLIC HEARING

Project Name: File Number(s):	Sun Ranch Tourist Commercial Zone District Text Amendments City File # TA 24-01
Applicant:	Ernie Larrabee – Lake House Inn, LLC
Request:	Text Amendments to the Sisters Development Code Chapter 1.3 –
	Definitions and Chapter 2.12 – Sun Ranch Tourist Commercial District.
	The purpose is to expand and clarify the types of uses allowed in the
	Sun Ranch Tourist Commercial District and other edits for consistency with the Sisters Development Code.

Chairman Seymour asked if any of the Planning Commissioners has had any conflicts of interest regarding this application, and whether or not they plan to participate.

Commissioner Retzman – No conflicts and plans to participate. Commissioner Blumenkron – Has knowledge of the project and Larrabee's live in the same development. He feels he could be fair and biased and plans to participate. Commissioner McDougall – No conflicts and plans to participate. Commissioner Ries – No conflicts and plans to participate. Chairman Seymour – No conflicts and plans to participate.

Planner Martin stated that this hearing is a proposed text amendment to the Sisters Development Code Chapters 1.3 – Definitions, and Chapter 2.12 – Sun Ranch Tourist Commercial District. File No. TA 24-01 and acknowledging submitted by Jon Skidmore on behalf of Ernie Larrabee, Lake House, LLC. In the application materials, one point of clarification is those individuals are transposed on occasion but are one in the same representing the applicant. One omission from the script is for the applicant to provide their report following the staff report, but given this is an applicant-initiated project, as with all others, the applicant is afforded that first opportunity to testify after staff.

Planner Martin stated that what you have before you are a package of amendments to Chapter 1.3 and Chapter 2.12. The purpose of this proposal as indicated by the applicant is to expand and clarify the types of uses allowed in the Tourist Commercial District and implement a new vision and new opportunities within that district as well as make other non-substantive edits for consistency with formatting of other chapters of the Sisters Development Code. In coordination with staff, staff recommended that while the amendments are being proposed to the Tourist Commercial District that this serves as an opportunity to make those non-substantive amendments to the overall formatting of the chapters and be more consistent with most of the zone district chapters throughout the code.

Planner Martin wanted to acknowledge that the amendments in their latest draft are those included in addendum #1 to the application materials – the most recent application package of revisions submitted on March 14, 2024.

Location: Properties: The entirety of Lot # 1: 69013 Camp Polk Road A portion of: Lot # 2: 575 E. Sun Ranch Drive; Lot # 3: Unaddressed District Area: +/6.2 Acres District History: File Nos. CP 06-01 / Z 06-01 Ordinances: 366/367 adopted April 26, 2007 <u>Created Zone Districts:</u> Sun Ranch Residential District, Sun Ranch Tourist Commercial District, and North Sisters Business Park. It is intended to be made up of a variety of zone districts and a transition from the employment areas to provide residential areas as well as these accommodations in other commercial and supportive uses in the Tourist Commercial District.

The staff report that was presented a week in advance of tonight's proceeding is to capture a summary of those findings that are included in the staff report. He stated that it is important to highlight specifically those changes that staff found to be substantive.

<u>Substantive Changes:</u> <u>Section(s):</u> 1.3.300 – Definitions <u>Proposed Change</u> – Add definition of "Lodging Establishment." <u>Staff Comment:</u> Intended to encompass a variety of overnight commercial lodging types.

2.12.100 – Purpose
 <u>Proposed Change</u> – Replace purpose statement.
 <u>Staff Comment:</u> The amendment is warranted to reflect the proposed amendments and vision for the district.

2.12.300.200 – Permitted Uses

<u>Proposed Change:</u> Remove Cottages and Lodging Facilities
<u>Staff Comment:</u> Would be permitted as "Lodging Establishment".
<u>Proposed Change:</u> Remove Office
<u>Staff Comments:</u> Prohibits office building but office as an accessory use would be allowed.
<u>Proposed Change:</u> Add Hotel and Lodging Establishment
<u>Staff Comments:</u> See proposed definitions.
<u>Proposed Change:</u> Add Hostel
<u>Staff Comments:</u> Specifically defined lodging type of use.
<u>Proposed Change:</u> Add RV Park, including Caretaker's Residence.
<u>Staff Comments:</u> Existing specific use standards for RV Parks (2.15.1700) would apply.
<u>Proposed Change:</u> Add Park
<u>Staff Comments:</u> A park can include a variety of amenities of increasing intensity and scale.
<u>Proposed Change:</u> Remove Sauna, Laundry Establishment, Multi-Use Trail, Decks, etc.
Staff Comment: Uses are recognized as accessory uses.

2.12.300.200 – Permitted Uses

<u>Proposed Change:</u> Replace Amusement Use with Retail State Establishment Limited to 1000 square feet.

<u>Staff Comment:</u> "Amusement Use" is a defined term in the SDC that encompasses a variety of uses. This amendment will instead allow small scale retail uses.

<u>Proposed Change:</u> Replace "Special events/meeting facility, reception hall or community center" as a Conditional Use with "Community Centers and similar uses' as a Permitted Use. <u>Staff Comment:</u> Change to permitted use no longer requires evaluation for compliance with the conditional use criteria (SDC 4.4).

2.12.400.300 – Development Standards

<u>Proposed Change</u>: Reduce setback from Barclay Drive/Camp Polk Road from 20 feet to 10 feet.

Staff Comment: Proposed 10-foot street side setback same as other Commercial Districts.

2.12.1000 – Special Standards for Certain Uses

<u>Proposed Change:</u> Remove Special Standards for Neighborhood Markets, Laundry Establishments, and Cottages including – 50-foot setback from Barclay Drive/Camp Polk Road for Neighborhood Market – 1,000 square foot Maximum for Neighborhood Market.

<u>Staff Comment:</u> Proposed 10-foot street setback would apply. The 6,000 square foot maximum for the neighborhood market would apply.

2.12.1100 – Design Standards

<u>Proposed Change</u>: Remove the 1900's Rural Farm/Ranch House Design Standards. <u>Staff Comment</u>: The 1880's Western Frontier Design Standards would apply.

Public Comments:

- General Opposition to the Proposal
 Support for Existing Provisions of Tourist Commercial District
 Amendments not justified.
- Opposition to RV Park Use and Related Impacts Negative Impacts (Traffic, Noise, Light, Visual, etc.) Compatibility Long-Term Occupancy Limited Economic Value or Impact
- Existing Buildings should be Preserved and Refurbished.
- Support for Proposed Changes –
 Cater to Changing Tourism Market
 Mix of Uses will Revitalize Property
 RV Park Provides Affordable Options

<u>Additional Correspondences:</u> Since the staff report was prepared, the following record submittals have been received:

4/12/24 – Johnston email; 4/13/24 – Whitlatch email; 4/15/24 Pollard email 4/17/24 – Stephens' email; 4/17/24 – Brooks email; 4/18/24 Thorson. Application: 4/18/24 Skidmore (Applicant) email Trip Generation Comparison.

Commission Recommendation: The Planning Commission recommendation options.

- Approve as Drafted
- Approve Portions as Drafted
- Approve with Amendments Can include standards to address issues such as scale, intensity, and compatibility.
- Deny as Drafted

Next Steps:

- Continue the hearing to a date certain
- Close the hearing and leave the written record open to a date certain
- Close the hearing and set a date for deliberations; or
- Close the hearing and commence deliberations.

Chairman Seymour asked if there was additional correspondence on this matter other than those items included in the agenda materials.

Planner Martin stated that acknowledging those additional comments that he noted previously and provided printed copies as well.

Chairman Seymour asked the applicant to come forward and present their staff report.

Jon Skidmore, Skidmore Consulting, LLC for the applicants Ernie and Amy Larrabee

Mr. Skidmore stated that Ernie and Amy Larrabee are going to talk first about their vision for the property and what this text amendment will allow them to do. He wanted to introduce the other members of the team that have helped to develop this. Jen Bass is the Landscape Architect that puts together the story boards and conceptual layout. Melissa Webb is the Transportation Engineer as well as Adam Smith who is our Land Use Attorney with Schwabe Williamson, and Wyatt. Staff did a great job of talking about the specific amendments, the factors of consideration to consider those amendments are in Section 4.1.300 talking about consistency with Statewide Planning Goals, the Comprehensive Plan, adequate public facilities, and transportation facilities.

Ernie and Amy Larrabee, Lake House, LLC stated that they have lived in Sisters for nine (9) years and have four (4) children. Ernie owns a local roofing company here, and the three older kids have gone through the school system and are now done with one more child in school. Our kids are planting roots here, the oldest is marrying someone who has had a family business here for 25 years, our second child is in a serious relationship that has also had businesses here for 25 years, etc. It is important to let you know the heart of our intentions and goals for the property. We purchased the property as an owner carry in November 2017, and did not want to do much with it until it was paid off. We are proud to say that in December of 2023, we were able to pay off the property and are gathering an awesome team of super smart people who know what they are doing. Initially, when we bought the property, our heart was to restore the house and build cabins around the pond/lake – hence the name 'Lake House Inn'. After talking with quite a few structural engineers who told us it would not be a great idea to renovate the house – we started having to brainstorm other ideas.

Ms. Larrabee continued to say that fast forward to covid hitting, the ideas of building cabins and the cost of lumber got our wheels turning to see if there were any other lodging establishments to do on the property that feasibility and financially in this kind of market when hotels were shutting down that we could do. We decided that an RV Park does offer an option for people coming in and not having to spend on an average \$200-\$400 a night to stay in Sisters. We believe it will bring in consumers for the business owners, especially May through September, but most exciting for us is the multi-use aspect of it. He had a heart to do something for the locals here – and what the Nugget skipped over is the whole aspect was to the locals. It would be for a community or gathering center, a tap house with firepits, food carts, fishing hole in the existing pond and stock it, the fenced dog park area, which Sisters does not have. We want to revitalize the property and provide lodging for guests coming through. There is the need for more affordable lodging, and we feel that an RV Park hits that and all the super fun stuff for the community to do and pickleball – a lot for everyone.

Jennifer Bass, Landscape Architect

Ms. Bass stated that there is screening around the left side of the property to the south and the west with existing juniper trees that will help screen the stalls, a children's playground proposed, a stage, and a lot of multi-uses to bring in the community and tourism and will be a very vibrant space.

Mr. Skidmore stated that he wanted to list a few items with the scope of the proposed changes in terms of what is a new proposed use, there are only four (4) of them. The RV Park is gaining a lot of publicity and a lot of attention. Never have we veered from the intent of having mixed-use development on site. The proposal does have an RV Park, but we are looking to have other types of uses on site to appeal to the tourists as well as the locals. That is a key focus and was a key focus when we developed the Sun Ranch Tourist Commercial District almost 20-years ago. The whole mix of uses by having restaurants, lodging, and gathering spaces – none of that has been lost but a different chapter in the story of that property. The other uses that we have proposed that is new is a Hostel, Park, and the Amusement Use is meant to go and ride a bike, or get some tackle to fish in the pond, or rent a kayak – we were not looking to do a Chuck E Cheese, but a retail facility where people could rent bikes, etc.

Most of the overwhelming red lines are formatted based on conversations with staff and at their request – going from design standards that are in paragraphs to tables, it is more consistent with the rest of the Development Code. When asked to do that, he spoke with the Larrabee's and they were happy to do that, there is an expense to them, but they wanted to work with the city to update the code and easier to implement moving forward.

Another item is the special setbacks for the neighborhood market. When we designed this district 20-years ago, the concept was like the Camp Sherman Store. The special setbacks were put in place because the four most structures that we wanted to highlight were the Conklin Bed and Breakfast, but no longer a part of the plan. We felt going consistent with setbacks in other commercial districts – front, side, and rear made more sense. The design theme and going back to the 1880's design theme – the 1900's Rural Ranch design theme was something we developed with Shane Lundgren and wanted to have something different but is not a tried-and-true design standard at this point. The new Ski Inn came up as an example several times – they said that might work for us and why not revert to the 1880's.

The Lodging Establishment was another part of the proposal based on conversations with staff. We had the cabins in the Sun Ranch Tourist Commercial District, we had the Lodging Facilities, and in other commercial districts, we had the hotel/motel uses.

One of the conversations was that we would like to have something consistently applied throughout the city that is in our own Development Code. We wanted to simplify things and has been a confusing component of the conversation.

One thing that warrants some consideration and recognition is the success and contributions that certain developments throughout Sisters have provided to what is a unique and interesting culture and characteristics of Sisters that have been developed. Sun Ranch was proposed and brand new, worked hard with a team for several years to get that approved, and the concept with boutique industrial with residential units above industrial was foreign. EDCO and members of the community had a hard time with it but recognized that Light Industrial as we understood it did not fit in Sisters in that way. We were very intentional in designing that district, the residential district, Sun Ranch Tourist Commercial District around certain visions. People love coming to Sisters, spending money, and doing great things that you can, but cannot afford to stay here because of the cost of lodging.

There was concern about an applicant-initiated text amendment, but Sun Ranch is a result of one of those. We worked very hard with Five Pine to implement that Master Plan in a Highway Commercial District that did not contemplate what Five Pine even was. He stated that he was lucky to have worked with the Willitts family to implement a vision for property that is now a very important part of the Sisters story. Sun Ranch is as well, the Barn, Left Coast Lodge, and this is one more opportunity for Sisters' locals to do something very cool in this town that will contribute to the culture and to the economy. We should give members of this community credit for the great work they have done for the community and maybe be supportive of innovation when folks have different ideas. He stated that he has never seen an RV Park that has food carts, a tap house, pickleball courts, a fishing pond, and people can walk around town for many of the functions here in Sisters.

We are proposing the new language, but it comes down to the criteria in Section 4.1.600E which is the decision-making criteria for text amendments. He stated that their burden is to demonstrate consistency with Statewide Planning Goals, the Comprehensive Plan Policies, explaining and demonstrating that there is capacity of public services to serve the property as well as consistency with the Transportation Planning Rule. He continued explaining the Statewide Planning Goals – Goal 9, Economic Development and the adopted Comprehensive Plan has a supporting document called the Economic Opportunities Analysis, and the Sisters Country Vision. All these documents have a recognition of one of the focused target industries moving forward – it has been and will continue to be tourism with looking into getting more folks to come here and supporting the businesses in town. Tourism will continue to be an important part of Sisters economic future.

The survey that was done with tourists coming to town – people love coming here, they love spending money, and many folks cannot afford to stay here, etc. One thing that many destination marketing organizations have found is that if you can get heads in beds, people spend more money.

The Comprehensive Plan Section 2 stresses the need for a Land Use Planning process based on an adequate factual basis. A lot of data was provided from the RV Industry Association, Visit Central Oregon, and the survey done by Eco Northwest, etc. We have stated that what is being proposed is consistent with State Law and consistent with the Comprehensive Plan Policies relating to Economic Development. We have explained how travel behavior has changed, van life is a thing and a popular way for people to travel. RV sales have increased substantially in the past 20-years about 60 percent and a core buyer of these RV's are a younger demographic. The remote work opportunities that have come to play in the past few years, people can work from where they want. There was an increase in tourism and increase use of Short-Term Rentals, etc. in Central Oregon during the pandemic because people were free to leave the office and go to work where they want.

The economic impact of RV's is substantial – a study was provided that showed in 2022 that the RV industry contributed four billion dollars to Oregon's economy, manufacturing of RV's, sales, supplies, and to RV campgrounds, etc. Policy language in Chapter 8 of the Comprehensive Plan that encourages mixed-use development which we are very intentional about, if you want to have that conversation about how to secure that with some code language, we can have that conversation, but we have never varied from the idea of having mixed-use on that site.

On the adequacy of the public facilities with the wastewater system Capital Facility Plan from 2016, that analyzed the population projections as well as reasonable worst-case scenario uses on various properties and various zoning districts. The treatment facility, the 12-inch line in Camp Polk Rd. is adequate to serve this site. There is a 12-inch waterline on Barclay that is adequate to serve the site. On Transportation, a Transportation System Plan analysis was done by Melissa and more recently based on public feedback there were a few comments that RV parks generate more trips than a more traditional hotel, etc. She did an analysis comparing an 80-unit RV park compared to Five Pine which is a 44-unit hotel, as well as the Ponderosa Best Western Hotel with 78-units.

Melissa Webb, Lancaster Mobley

Ms. Webb stated that as part of this application, we looked at the Transportation Planning Rule and that is when we look to see that the Transportation System can support changes in traffic intensity that result from the proposed amendment. In this case, what we did was compare the trip generation potential of the site under both the existing allowable land uses as well as the proposed additional allowable land uses. For the existing uses, we looked in the code to see what is allowed in this site and chose the highest trip generator which ended up being a restaurant. For that, we estimated a good size for the restaurant and modeled it after Three Creeks Brewing which is about 6,000 square feet and since the lot is large that seemed like a reasonably sized restaurant. We did the trip generation of a 6,000 square foot restaurant and compared it to the campground/RV park with 80 camp sites, and to a public park which is approximately 4.6 acres. In comparing those two, we did find that the restaurant generated a significant number of trips more than what the campground or the park would generate. We were able to show that the existing uses generate more traffic than is currently being proposed.

Mr. Skidmore stated that it is noteworthy to add that the City's Transportation Engineer concurred with that analysis as well. We did amend it today, but Ms. Webb did a brief analysis of RVs versus more traditional hotels and is good to put in the record.

Adam Smith, Schwabe Williamson & Wyatt, 360 SW Bond St.

Mr. Smith stated that he wanted to reiterate that we were happy to provide some renderings and conceptual plans, but that is not what is being proposed tonight – it is just the text amendment. There is no proposal on the table yet and those are just conceptual plans at this point but wanted to let the Planning Commission and the members of the public have a general sense of the idea for the property. On that point, our comparison of 80 RV spots does not at all imply that we are looking to do 80 RV spots. When looking at the conceptual plan it is not near that many and is the worse case scenario for doing the traffic analysis. Another point is that he concurs with Planner Martin on the descriptions of the several options that you have going forward. If the Planning Commission is substantial or inclined to be considering substantive amendments to the code, we would request the opportunity to propose those amendments ourselves. We would love to get policy direction back from the Planning Commission and then work with staff directly to draft that language. There are better versions of code language when there is a single point of authorship. If the Planning Commission wanted to go down that one option suggested by Planner Martin where you wanted to propose meaty changes to what has been proposed, we would ask for that policy direction and give us the opportunity to write those amendments for you and then for your consideration.

Mr. Skidmore stated that one item that did come up at the initial workshop and questions asked about how the applicant-initiated text amendment work, what is the process behind it and how does it flow – he then started thinking about the living nature of the planning documents in the community. It is appropriate and healthy for them to change as time goes on, the need to respond to different market conditions, and direction from the State, etc. If there was a more consistent format of the code that looked like the majority of the Development Code, we would have only come in with four (4) new uses to be propose as mentioned upfront – working with staff to try and update the code not only from a policy level, but of formatting which is a healthy exercise to go through routinely and we were happy to do that.

Chairman Seymour asked if the Commissioners if they had any questions of the applicant at this time.

Commissioner Ries asked about some of the intro materials where it referenced Landmark Lodging, Overnight Accommodations, Glamping Type Structures, and Boutique High-End RV Park. He stated he is looking for a definition of those items.

Mr. Skidmore stated that with a Boutique Park was a term that we used for the Sun Ranch Industrial District and the thought behind it was setting an intention of having a higher-level aesthetic, a higher-level of design, on-site etc. compared to the typical RV park where they may have a bathroom and a picnic table or two. This is something that is going to be more catering to the traveling public with a mix of uses, values on-site, as well as design considerations, enhanced landscaping, berms that provides a nice look, provides a nice feel, and more of an approach to the design, the feel, and the amenities that are provided there. Boutique does not have a specific definition, but that is the intention to have a higher level of design and amenities on-site. Glamping is an enhanced and higher-end approach to camping. It might be a nice canvas with 1-bedroom or 2-bedroom tents. It could be going camping and roughing it in the woods, but you have electricity, heat, and a kitchen to cook in as well.

Commissioner Ries asked for clarification on the street traffic and knows from experience that RVs are longer, larger, slower, and when there are more than two or three waiting to get into an RV park there could be problems with people parking on the street. He wanted to know if this was going to be addressed in the design, etc.

Mr. Skidmore stated that with specific site design, we would work with Ms. Webb on the turning radius, turning radii, throughout the facility, how to handle it on Camp Polk Road, RV spaces, etc.

Ms. Larrabee stated that on the exterior that is currently lined with all the trees and shrubby, we have 14 spots that are conducive for 40-foot RVs, and the rest of everything inside is going to be for the 24-foot Mercedes, Sprinter Vans, or the 12-foot conversion vans. Again, we do want to encompass that area to block the view of an RV Park going down Camp Polk Rd. but to create intimacy for the campers themselves.

Mr. Skidmore stated that the conceptual plan does have some of the airstreams, etc. It is a relatively small lot, it is not confined space, but it is not huge. The idea of having the largest RVs, being a 40-footer would reduce what could be an impact on the traveling public. These will operate more like a pickup truck and on a scale that is a lot more limited.

Ms. Larrabee stated that on the lines to get in, we do plan on having everything done on-line so people will know what spot they will be going to and not have to check into an office. They will be able to pull right in, and there will be signs directing them where to go. We do not anticipate being backed up in any way to get in.

Commissioner Ries stated that originally this was supposed to be a Bed & Breakfast and have 30 cabins. He asked if this would have been a hotel/motel, or a resort, and what would that definition be.

Mr. Skidmore stated that to go back to the initial vision for the Tourist Commercial Zone and that property. Yes, the Conklin structure was going to play a prominent role in it. Exactly how the property was going to be repurposed had not been determined, the house was in midst of renovations in 2007-2008 when the restaurant operator heard the rumblings of the great recession on the horizons and split. The idea was that there could be up to 30 cabins, but also the ability to do lodging facilities. It was never limited to just 30 cabins and no other units of overnight accommodation. We were very intentional in putting that in there so that if for some reason 10-15 cabins had been developed and the market went in a different way, the lodging facility was there allowing to develop other types of lodging facilities. The site had always been thought of originally with the vision of working as a resort with on-site amenities to rent a bike, go to the restaurant, etc.

Chairman Seymour stated that he had a question regarding the proposed change in the setbacks. Currently, being requested is a substantial diminishment of setbacks – a 50-foot setback on Barclay and Camp Polk and what is being proposed is 10 feet. Staff is also concurring with the applicant at 10feet.

Mr. Skidmore stated that he had not heard staff say that is a bad idea, but what he did hear is staff say that it is consistent with the other commercial zoning districts. Again, the idea of that enhanced setback was to have the structure play a prominent feature in terms of the visuals of the property. From an urban planning and urban form standpoint, it would be appropriate to have smaller setbacks so that as the traveling public come through, they see activity, they see businesses, and they are not doing 45 mph, but hitting the brakes and going slower.

Chairman Seymour asked if any of the Planning Commissioners had questions for staff.

Commissioner Blumenkron asked for clarification about adding the RV Park, and he understands that there are definitions elsewhere in the code.

Planner Martin stated that is correct and within the definitions of a recreational vehicle park there is no specificity on the duration of stay within a recreational vehicle park. The matrix provided was acknowledgement that if there was a concern or an interest in providing that frequency of turnover – limited duration of stay to provide that temporary overnight accommodation like a hotel or other short-term occupancy.

Planner Martin stated that now is the opportunity to speak about what the development and design criteria may be for a particular element of the package of amendments. We want to be mindful of speaking specifically to the conceptual plan that is being presented, but rather seeing that as a potential as we contemplate the overall design and development characteristics or operating characteristics of a particular use. The size limitations that are being proposed on retail uses that they are proposing of 1,000 square feet, existing in the code are hours of operation limitations for the neighborhood market that they are proposing to change, but another example of operating characteristics or time, place, and manner standards that could be considered as part of any recommendation.

Planner Martin stated that as you contemplate these amendments such as duration of stay, number of units if based on a formula of units per acre, or a footprint percentage of a property that may be occupied by the RV Park development portion of any development project. Those are considerations that would be prevue of the Planning Commission to consider.

Commissioner McDougall asked about the Land Use Table where it says RV Park including Caretaker's residence. When it includes the Caretaker's residence does that mean that it is required or optional.

Planner Martin stated that he interprets that to be optional, but it is not a standalone single-family dwelling as a standalone use, but rather it incorporates a caretaker residence option for on-site living quarters for the management of that use.

Commissioner McDougall asked about the cottages that were built on Adams Ave. and is that now categorized under hotel/motel – The Sisters Cottage Inn.

Planner Martin stated that for a point of clarification those cottages are on the corner of Main Ave. and Locust St. In the community there is a newly developed called the Sisters Cottage Inn that is multiple separate structures, but for the purposes of land use and the use category, it was reviewed as a hotel.

Commissioner McDougall asked if an allowed use was an RV park, would canvas structures be allowed in that use, or if it would be under any of the uses listed.

Planner Martin stated that the description of glamping and the use of canvas tents would fall under the proposed Lodging Establishment definition that incorporates any hotel/motel, resort building, or structure that is used to provide sleeping accommodations.

Commission McDougall asked for clarification on one of the potential changes that the existing buildings can be preserved and refurbished. There is nothing in the code or language that could require the applicant to do this.

Planner Martin stated that is correct for the purposes of it being 'historic' and recognizes the importance to the community and the history associated with the property and the structure itself, but for the purposes of required preservation it is not a designated historic resource that requires protection and preservation.

Chairman Seymour asked if staff could put up on the screen from the staff report, the main points that we are focusing on and asked for the 'setback' portion. With respect to the 50-foot proposed change and comments being 10-foot just to confirm that is consistent with other commercial zones within the city.

Planner Martin stated that it is located on page 1 of the Table. Initially, that is what the applicant proposed - the 10-foot setback, but confirming that, yes, the 10-foot setback is consistent with the highway and downtown commercial districts setback requirement. Currently, there is a 20-foot setback for all development/buildings, but there is a special increased setback of 50-foot for neighborhood markets.

Planner Martin stated that he wanted to acknowledge at the conclusion of all testimony, the opportunity for rebuttal is always afforded to the applicant.

Chairman Seymour stated that they would take a short five-minute break and then return for any public testimony.

Charlie Stevens, 1086 W. Collier Glacier Dr., Sisters, OR 97759

Mr. Stevens stated that he is speaking for a small group of citizens here tonight. They have spent a lot of time reviewing this, digging into the details, but found that the current code from a community perspective is quite good and adequate. We found no justification in any kind of market situation that would change this radically over the last 20 years. There have been some new things that have cropped up, but it does not comprise an overall market change that is worth Sisters paying attention to. The intent of the existing code was clearly to serve travelers and tourists and the local community. The term Lodging Establishment is already in the current code and used to refer to the business that operates a lodging facility, but not used in the way the applicant proposes to use it. Overall, the combination of all that is removed from the current code plus the addition of the RV Park more appropriate. We would suggest that an RV Park is a rather inappropriate use for this piece of ground. He gave examples and discussed the American Oil Companies, etc. He did not feel it appropriate to strike out all that code and wonders why the applicant did not apply to put RV Parks as a line item in the code.

Therese Kollerer, 1190 Jantzen Ct., Sisters, OR 97759

Ms. Kollerer stated that she is part of the group that just spoke and sincerely hopes that you take the time to read the document and go through in detail all the code changes and the responses to them. She walks her dog looking at this property daily and has been to many an RV Park. This is nothing that you want near residential districts. It will not be a Five Pine. She talked about the noise, generators, kids, and is not against RV Parks, but is against them in this location. She is against them in the future in Sisters where there will be more houses around there and hopefully there will be a mixed-use way to use this property by somebody somehow. She discussed the many emails and comments received over weeks and months and the community is not happy with this idea for the most part. She appreciates that they are getting a heads up that this is underway and can weigh in. Her hope is to either deny this application in its entirety or keep all comments open, think about it more and get more input.

Mercedes Murillo, 1310 W. Hill Ave., Sisters, OR 97759

Ms. Murillo stated that they moved to Sisters during the Covid scare in 2020, and we chose Sisters to live instead of Bend and Redmond because we read the Sisters Vision and that was the final closing for the future of Sisters. We want to ensure that the community has protection from adverse conditions that could be imposed on the community by these changes in the Development Code. The Development Code is being changed for one (1) parcel that will change wholesale – the nature of the future development for all time and for all of Sisters. Adverse conditions are not addressed – they are circumvented for this purpose but will affect any other type of future development plans. She addressed sanitation, conduct of guests, management oversite, infrastructure requirements, surrounding properties and residents. She stated that she would like more exposure, more time and consideration, more attention to the details, and address the adverse impacts, etc.

Nadine Sims, 150 W. Heising Dr., Sisters, OR 97759

Ms. Sims stated that she goes down this street every single day when leaving her home and feels vested in what happens. She looked at the Conklin property for years and wished that it had been brought back to life, or something that we could have used for our community. With this proposal, how does it benefit the Sisters community, nothing against RVs and it is a fun way to travel, but how is this property going to be used almost half of the year. The biggest problems in Sisters are additional housing and affordable housing and this is not housing. We need more employment opportunities, and this does not provide housing or employment. She discussed dogs and what can happen with areas of water play – they destroy it. It is a huge problem along the Deschutes River where the dogs had access, they wear it away, and a lot of restoring had to be done. She asked that this glamping and high-end RV idea overcome common sense and what is a benefit to our community and year-round.

Julie York, 1131 N. Jantzen Ct., Sisters, OR 97759

Ms. York stated that she lives in the Grand Peaks area and as many people travel in an RV and stays in a lot of different places. She said that she has never been in one that welcomed outside folks even if it was in a neighborhood situation. If the amenities are designed right, they are for the people that are there. If this business is doing well – it is going to compete with community folks coming in using the pickleball court, etc. We already have a stage and all the music that is going on downtown – she does support that, but we do not need another venue that is much closer to where she lives. There is talk about traffic, but we do not know how the roundabout is going to impact those two streets, but this is not normal traffic – these are huge vehicles. She stated that she loves the RV Park in Sisters/Bend RV and is a beautiful facility but is also in a location that is appropriate and is not in a neighborhood. She would support and could use affordable stays for folks visiting, just not in this neighborhood.

Torin Moray, 490 E. Diamond Peak Ave., Sisters, OR 97759

Ms. Moray stated that she agrees with the three (3) previous speakers – Charlie, Therese, and Julie. This is not an appropriate use of this plot of land in this area. She has also stayed in RV Parks including the one on Route 20 and it is lovely and much larger than this space. It is appropriate off a major highway as it is. The documents that Mr. Stevens has submitted to

the Commission should be read and considered in detail. He states very clearly what the concerns would be of this proposal in this area.

Chairman Seymour asked if anyone in the audience would like to give additional testimony. No one came forward.

Chairman Seymour asked the applicant if they had any rebuttal that they would like to share with us.

Mr. Skidmore stated that they would provide additional information and appreciate the feedback from the various folks. A few items that were raised need to be addressed right off the bat. We heard what a great spot this would be for affordable housing – this is commercially zoned and never meant to be developed with housing. There is an Economic Opportunities Analysis that identified the land needs for a variety of employment type uses, everything from traded sector to more food service and tourism related. It was included in the EOA and has been identified that there is a land need for these commercial uses. Affordable Housing is needed across the west, and the Larrabee's do not have any issues acknowledging that more housing is needed, but this property was brought into the city specifically for commercial purposes and it will be developed as such. It is not a candidate for affordable housing project.

In terms of benefits to the community, in terms of job creation, the whole Sun Ranch Master Plan did identify various areas for various uses. The residential area and the traded sector employment was aimed for the boutique industrial that the North Sisters Business Park and has always been focused on tourism, restaurants, and accommodations, etc. It is that type of job that would be created and generated on site. The city's occupancy rate and like everything in Central Oregon and other communities, they dip in the winter. Summer is big, the shoulder seasons are better, and winter tends to be tough. There is the ability for this to stay open year-round unlike the Creekside Campground. The other component that people need to keep in mind is this tap house, restaurant, or food carts will be open year-round as well as will the pickleball court, etc. In the winter there are opportunities to bridge those gaps and getting through this conversation of what uses are permissible is the first step and the programming elements that address those and winter seasons that is step 2 or 3 down the line. They are not ignoring that they are able to address that, but yes, occupancy for lodging facilities in Sisters is down in the winter, and we are trying to do something a little different that would attract folks at these times of the year that typically do not.

A comment was made about ignoring the Vision of the Sisters Country Vision. We are very consistent with it and have done a very good job of demonstrating how we are, and staff concurred with it. Part of that vision is to continue to focus on tourism and have tourism expanded to provide more options, more activities, and more interests for people to come here year-round. They do not take that obligation lightly. One other item was mentioned that they have stayed in a bunch of RV Parks and have never seen anything like what we are proposing. That is fantastic ~ we still have a way to get to before we put something on paper and come in with an application if we are successful in this process. Nobody has ever seen anything like Sun Ranch Business Park, nobody has ever seen residential in a business district, nobody has ever seen anything like Five Pine, nobody has ever seen anything like Shibui Spa with a gym and a very attention to detail hotel with cabins, the brewery, a barn for movies, all

these things are very innovative, this project is no different, and this will be something different but we are hoping to have the support where we can get to the point where we can do that detailed planning, but the first step is this Text Amendment.

Someone discussed having eliminated any ability to develop in a mixed-use fashion, that is not true. We made things more consistent with what you have throughout the rest of the Development Code – eating and drinking establishments, hostels, hotel, lodging establishments could be RVs or more traditional types of overnight accommodations. The intention and plan are mixed-uses, and we are going to stick with that. Neighborhoods within walking distance of existing RV campgrounds – an example would be Creekside Campground. It can be designed to be compatible and always been planned to be a component of the Sun Ranch Master Plan – we are not ignoring that and will continue to have that cohesiveness and asking for changes to the code to allow us to get to that planning.

Mr. Smith wanted to address some of the comments about the appropriateness of changing the code to allow an RV Park at this location. Mr. Steven's letter directly raised the issue of Goal 14 and if it was appropriate under Goal 14. Statewide Planning Goal 14 is intended to protect urbanization, to protect the UGB's, and the point is to keep urban uses inside UGB's and rural uses outside of UGB's. How does that play in the context of RV Parks – they are considered an urban use in Oregon. The State Land system is pushing RV Parks to within the UGB's. There have been several cases where people have tried to do large intensive RV Parks in rural unincorporated environments throughout the State, and those projects on multiple occasions have been defeated on Goal 14 grounds. Oregon Land Use Laws make it very difficult to establish any RV Park outside of city limits. Deschutes County has been working on this issue themselves, funded a study that was looking at the exact issue – there are seven (7) RV Parks in unincorporated Deschutes County – all were established more than 40 years ago prior to Oregon Statewide Land Use Laws. When it comes to the appropriateness of an RV Park next to a residential area within a UGB, that is the Statewide Land Use system and what is being anticipated. We are pushing these exact same kinds of uses to within the UGB.

Mr. Smith addressed the Commission saying that when the conversation comes up in terms of next steps and where you want to go from there, keeping the record open on any of those things, we request an opportunity to be heard on that issue.

Commissioner Retzman asked for clarification in that the only code that we are changing or even talking about changing is for the Tourist Commercial District which is 4.61 acres – it is not a citywide code and the only thing citywide is the definition for Lodging Establishments.

Planner Martin stated that is correct. The Tourist Commercial District is approximately a little over 6 acres incorporating the three (3) parcels and some right-of-way. Confirming that the only amendment outside of Tourist Commercial is the proposed definition of Lodging Establishment.

Commissioner Ries asked if there is any documentation from any other city's where RV Parks are included in Lodging Establishment definitions.

Planner Martin stated that he has not done that research into other communities.

Commissioner Retzman asked for clarification that the RV Park is not part of the Lodging Establishment – that is a separate thing.

Planner Martin stated that is correct. The RV Park is a separately defined term and use than a Lodging Establishment.

Chairman Seymour stated that he has not heard any Commissioner specify that they want to continue the hearing. The applicant has asked to participate in this aspect and asked staff for guidance. He asked what the next steps and options are going to be going forward.

Planner Martin stated that a scenario he hears playing out is that the Commission is considering closing the public hearing and moving to deliberations. Within the deliberations, you can begin to discuss the elements of the proposal. Approved as proposed, or with amendments, but we do not need specific language if contemplating some revisions, but rather some concepts that we can take back and prepare some specific language for your considerations as a follow-up.

Mr. Smith stated the applicant would request that if the Planning Commission were interested in proposing amendments to the code itself that you continue the hearing so that we can work with staff, we can take that feedback, tweak the code, and come back and present it. If you close the hearing in its entirety, the only form that we can communicate with you directly is via writing. If the Planning Commission is looking to tweak the code, we ask that you continue the entire hearing – we'll tweak the code and bring back those amendments to you.

Chairman Seymour stated that if they continue the public hearing and keep the public comments open so that the applicant can continue. If we go that route, he is inclined to listen to whatever changes or recommendations that the Commission has, but not go into deliberations due to the hour. He does want to have a robust discussion on this but is not sure tonight is appropriate for that.

Planner Martin stated that this is the opportunity to provide preliminary comments but not move to full deliberations. In that respect, we would have those ideas open and available and continue the public hearing meaning that the oral record, the entirety of the public hearing providing the opportunity for additional oral comments, or written comments to be provided at a later date. With some initial considerations of ideas and concepts that you are contemplating, we can incorporate that into any meeting materials prior to and leading up to the continued public hearing.

Chairman Seymour stated that we will continue the public hearing, the public comment will remain open, and we will need to define a specific time and date. Once that is complete, we will provide preliminary discussion and feedback for the applicant to have the opportunity to come back at the continued hearing and share their feedback.

Commissioner McDougall stated that she would propose removing the Lodging Establishment definition and adding back hotel/motel. She is uncomfortable with the word structure in the definition and would lead to the potential for yurts and other things that we would not want in this area. It also adds a level of complexity that is unnecessary right now. There was an addition of hostels to the allowed land uses, and in the other commercial districts there are

some other wordings in the table – accessory use to primary permitted use – 25 guest occupancy limits plus staff and a 14-day stay limit for each 30-day period. She wanted to suggest making this consistent with the other commercial uses in town. There is a section in the Municipal Code which we are not dealing with, but the current campground operates under and says that no person shall stay more than 14-days maximum in any 60-day period in any designated camping space or designated RV parking space. There should be some language that infers more specificity to the limited occupancy or temporary stays.

Commissioner Blumenkron stated that he agrees and thinks that we should have some kind of language that limits the stay because we do not want it to turn into a mobile home park. He is not sure of the time limit, but it should be temporary and some kind of language that guarantees that there is a minimal impact on the surrounding area so that there is screening and some kind of noise suppression with loud music for the neighborhood.

Commissioner Ries stated that he has nothing to add at this point and is still hung up on adding RV Park to this Tourist Commercial District which completely changes the aspect of what it originally was. The striking of so much of the code makes him uncomfortable and would like some explanation of how that works with staff. It sounds like the applicant has talked to staff and staff said to make some suggestions, and these are the suggestions. He would like some information on whether it is necessary to strike so much of the code because he does not like the idea of the setback change and does not like the idea of expanding the neighborhood market from 1,000 to 6,000 square feet.

Commissioner McDougall stated that there is an addition of parks to allow land use and currently there are no non-publicly owned parks or publicly managed parks in the city. Public or privately owned land set apart and devoted to the purpose of pleasure, recreation, ornamental light, and air for the public. Parks may include picnic areas, playgrounds, indoor recreation facilities, athletic fields, courts, amphitheaters, and open space. She would like if possible, to have a requirement for a caretaker on-site to watch over the park 24/7.

Chairman Seymour stated that it sounds like some good ideas, and some are more suitable to a development application if one were to come in.

Planner Martin stated that he confirmed with the applicant that they are agreeable to Thursday, May 16, 2024, at 5:30 pm to continue the public hearing and afford ample time to consider the concepts and ideas that are being proposed tonight and bring back with full vetting.

Planner Martin stated that one point of clarification for Commissioner McDougall was highlighting the concept of ownership of public and private and was there a specific element, design, or characteristics wanting to incorporate into those changes.

Commissioner McDougall stated that she had concerns originally about the word amphitheaters but acknowledged that the noise ordinances would help with the concerns she had.

Planner Martin stated that he wanted to acknowledge that this is a continued public hearing and will have full opportunity for testimony at that hearing, and any additional written

comments that folks would like to provide can be submitted in the intervening time-period. They can be submitted to Planner Martin and those will be included in the record.

Chairman Seymour wanted to make a comment to both staff and the applicant – tonight has been difficult because the lines have been blurred between a text amendment application and a potential development application especially with the props, photos, and the discussion regarding potential development applications and it has made it difficult for the Commission to hone down and focus on what we are here to make a decision on tonight. He wanted to make sure that everyone in the audience, the applicant, and the staff knows that we are very sensitive to that and at the continuation of the hearing, if we could not have the props and limit the discussion on what we are focused on with our decision-making process.

Planner Martin stated that one of the points of clarification that he wanted to offer is now that we have talked about the date – he wants to completely put it on the record that the public hearing is being continued to *Thursday, May 16, 2024, at 5:30 pm* to be held in the Council Chambers here at City Hall.

Chairman Seymour asked if staff had any comments or business at this time.

Planner Shoup stated that she wanted to highlight that Arbor Day is next Friday, April 26th and will be held at Creekside Park from 10am – 11:30 am. We have partnered with Upper Deschutes Watershed Council to host a tree planting event on Whychus Creek. They will give the creek history, and the nature of the riparian habitat here in Sisters, and we will plant some little seedings. The public is welcome, and we will be focused on a class of around 20 students, but other people are welcome to join in with snacks, etc.

Director Woodford stated that they did an interview for the Planning Commission this week. The announcement will be made by the Major at the April 24th Council meeting. We will discuss when that person starts, and we will have a new member shortly with a term of 2026 finishing out an existing term. We have a kickoff meeting with the consultants for the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) process and are getting the ball starting to move on that. One of the initial things is starting a project website and getting the information out to the public and finalizing a public engagement plan which will set out the tools and different techniques that we will use to get the word out about that process.

Director Woodford state that the Planning Commission will start to engage when one of the first steps is finalizing the land need and taking a lot of the information and analysis that we have been working on the last couple of years, but refining it, and making sure that we know what the total acreage need is and what type of land use, the different types of land use - residential employment and that will needs report will come out of that and something that we will review with the steering committee as well as the Planning Commission in the next couple of months.

Planner Shoup stated that C4C is hosting a community forum at the Sisters Fire Hall on Sunday, May 5, 2024, starting at 3:30 and going until 5:30. It will be a panel of local housing developers, a planner, Sisters Habitat for Humanity Director, and Councilor Letz. We will be there to talk about local housing issues and what efforts are underway to support workforce housing. All are welcome and spread the word. Chairman Seymour adjourned the meeting at 8:10 pm.

Respectfully submitted,

Carol Jenkins, Recording Secretary

20

`